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			Introduction

			No praise was ever more deserved than when the New York Post, during the early 1960s, called Pulitzer Prize–nominated journalist and media icon Dorothy Kilgallen “the most powerful female voice in America.” To that article was another adding, “Wherever Dorothy Kilgallen goes fame precedes her, envy follows her and a crowd looks on. She is one of the communication marvels of the age.”

			As good fortune would have it, this remarkable woman inspired me to write not only a book specifically about the JFK assassination entitled The Poison Patriarch but three books touching on Dorothy’s life and times and her mysterious death including the bestselling The Reporter Who Knew Too Much, as well as Denial of Justice and Collateral Damage. Doing so, along with additional books I had published and other matters of interest including fifteen years’ worth of research materials, caused my alma mater, Purdue University, to decide to archive my body of work. A portion of the October 2020 announcement read:

			Purdue University Acquires Alumnus and Bestselling Author Mark Shaw’s Body of Work Complementing the Existing Archives of Amelia Earhart and Neil Armstrong

			We are delighted that Mark Shaw has chosen Purdue Archives and Special Collections as the home for this impressive collection,” said Beth McNeil, Dean of Libraries. “Shaw’s work touches on some of the most interesting and impactful events and individuals of the 20th century. In this respect, the collection beautifully complements others at Purdue, like the Amelia Earhart and Neil Armstrong papers. All provide a rich, primary account of 20th-century American history.

			Such recognition for a small-town Indiana, near college dropout with, at best, average intelligence who did not publish a book until age forty-seven has been exhilarating as well as humbling. In many of the thirty-plus books I’ve written with very little, if any, training to do so, there is a common theme: taking up the fight for justice banner in the spirit of acclaimed novelist Lois McMaster Bujold’s words of wisdom: “The dead cannot cry out for justice. It is a duty of the living to do so for them.”

			Accepting this responsibility in my books, one I could have never imagined, in some ways “defending” those denied justice as I had done during my years as a noted criminal defense attorney in the Midwest, became the bedrock of my body of work. During the journey, I learned about Dorothy Kilgallen and used her as a role model so as to aspire to be a man of the truth as Dorothy was a woman of the truth, challenging distortions of history at every turn.

			As thousands of readers of my books and those who have known me since childhood have asked: How did you become what may be termed a “voice” for justice, and most especially a “voice” for three twentieth-century luminaries who tragically died at an early age—Marilyn in 1962 at age thirty-six, JFK in 1963 at age forty-six, and Dorothy in 1965 at age fifty-two?

			The answer necessitates several chapters in the beginning of this book touching on life experiences before I became an author in an autobiographical sense so as to better understand how I would later substantiate credentials as a bona fide historian to anyone who doubted the accuracy of my writings. These life experiences, as will be explained, combined to mold and then strengthen my character so that I could challenge through my words the disdain for the rule of law. The transformation has permitted my holding accountable one of the most powerful families in history, the Kennedys, specifically Joseph, the patriarch, and son Robert.

			As you will learn, I now take on two more powerful men, FBI director J. Edgar Hoover and President Lyndon Baines Johnson, both of whom were responsible for the granddaddy of all distortions of history, the bogus Warren Commission conclusion that Lee Harvey Oswald acted alone during the assassination of President John F. Kennedy. How I landed on the motherload of all assassination breakthroughs by exposing for the first time the corrupt inner-workings of that commission through the account of a “whistleblower” of sorts provides the crowning jewel during my many years of research, ones that have exposed government corruption at the highest levels.

			As will be explained, my contributions to history in these arenas of interest only became possible when I began to learn more about Dorothy, a woman of great integrity who, in effect, became my “copilot” for the research journey I conducted on a daily basis. Before my discovery of the revered journalist, the media icon, my early years of defending women’s rights, first in the courtroom and then with my early books, initiated me into dogged research methods resembling her own. Becoming something one might call a protégé of hers opened a window leading to the truth about what happened to JFK in 1963 and eventually to the discovery of the suspicious nature of Dorothy’s death in 1965 and then Marilyn’s in 1962. Investigating them in that order, even though Marilyn died first, has resulted in resolving three true-crime murder mysteries that were not, in fact, mysteries at all if they would have been properly investigated at the time.

			As new evidence appeared on the horizon, much of it from highly credible sources, I would ask, during my improbable journey, “Well, what would Dorothy do with this evidence?” Other times, I wondered how she would follow up, how I could use information provided from a reader tip, missed or ignored government documents, or a new, credible source that landed on my doorstep. Being smart enough to realize Dorothy was smarter than me, I began utilizing what I called “The Dorothy Method,” akin to how a prosecutor gathers evidence for a trial so as to examine witnesses and present both opening statements and final arguments to uncover important historical data based on solid, primary-source evidence.

			Dorothy thus became a central part of my life even though she had died decades earlier, and as time passed, I began to realize that by following her path to the truth about matters of historical significance I could become a budding historian and compile a worthy list of my own contributions to history. This involved combining Dorothy’s research with my own and adding to the equation what I had learned through many valuable life experiences that I came to realize were indeed “defining moments” in my life. As you will read, connecting what I had learned during those moments in time to my own research methods became quite relevant to my discovery of new evidence. As an example, shortly after Collateral Damage was published in 2021, a slew of that new evidence came floating into my life and I felt the need to share it with you, the reader.

			That is the intent of this book: to add more of my contributions to history while at the same time honoring Dorothy for her contributions, ones that have been, thus far, the trigger point for nearly seven million YouTube views of presentations and interviews for my last few books, The Reporter Who Knew Too Much, Denial of Justice, and Collateral Damage. During each one, I took the viewer on my research journey with me, and that is the intention of this book as well: to share the research strategy I utilized from the moment I began to investigate Jack Ruby’s attorney Melvin Belli for his role in defending Ruby, culminating in the 2007 biography King of the Courtroom. Doing so, I am proud to say, has been possible by my having established the reputation as a man of the truth leading to the best, most credible sources contacting me, as happened to Dorothy based on her stellar reputation, with never-before-published evidence contributing to such revelations as the first exposure of the Jack Ruby trial transcripts in Denial of Justice.

			The result is Fighting for Justice, a blending of evidence included in previous books for clarity and context purposes with shocking new evidence pointing to cover-ups existing since the early 1960s. This evidence includes: 1) FBI director J. Edgar Hoover’s obsession with Dorothy and her life and times for years on end beginning in the 1950s, 2) the eyewitness account never presented before exposing for the first time the disturbing inner workings of the Warren Commission controlled by LBJ and J. Edgar Hoover to guarantee an “Oswald Alone” conclusion, and 3) insight into a condition known as “neurosis” affecting the Kennedy family men, especially Joseph, John, and Robert, causing each to become sexual predators. Also included are a compendium of disturbing revelations about Frank Sinatra’s illicit life and times, two new credible accounts of how Marilyn Monroe died, and critical information adding to the proof that Dorothy Kilgallen was murdered in 1965. In each case, there is no predisposed agenda on my part permitting independent evaluation of the facts collected, just the opposite of many author’s intentions resulting in books packed with distortions of history.

			As you will read, the journey to my exposing the cover-ups of the truth about Dorothy’s and Marilyn’s deaths and the JFK assassination traces a long and winding and in many cases serendipitous road, but one that involves an immense amount of evidence for those who have read any of the previous books and those who have not read any of them. It is also a book that is a call to action, a call to fight for justice, a demand for immediate, proper, and thorough independent investigations into JFK’s, Dorothy’s, and Marilyn’s tragic endings to their lives so that each is provided that justice sooner rather than later. Although it has been too long already since justice was denied them, it is never too long to fight for the truth, especially regarding historical figures involved in key events of the last half of the twentieth century, events that crucially shaped many of the challenges American politics and government face today.

			 

			—Mark Shaw

			(www.markshawbooks.com)
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			Chapter 1

			In 2006, while researching a proposed book on the life and times of famous San Francisco attorney Melvin Belli, I came across the following comments about him made during his representation of Lee Harvey Oswald’s assassin Jack Ruby in 1964:

			Washington Post reporter Bill Flynn focused on the overall “Belli look.” He described the lawyer’s fondness for “Saville Row suits, handmade shirts with diamond studs, flowing Byronesque ties, starched cuffs, and polished high-heeled black boots.”

			Famed reporter Dorothy Kilgallen, a steady lunch partner of Belli’s during the Ruby trial who later mysteriously died of a drug overdose, observed, “The Carl Sandburgs of the future will spend whole lifetimes trying to analyze the drama of this week and this scene.” She described Belli’s demeanor as “Chesterfieldian.”

			Due to a lack of compelling interest in Jack Ruby, Lee Oswald, or even the JFK assassination, I paid little attention to either quote. Certainly I had no interest in Belli’s wardrobe choices, so Flynn’s description never made much of an impression on me. And the information about Dorothy Kilgallen barely registered since all I knew about her at the time was that she had been a panelist on one of my parents’ favorite CBS television shows when I was growing up. It was called What’s My Line? and the idea, as I recalled, was for the panelists to guess someone’s unusual occupation.

			What did catch my eye was that the latter quote was apparently intended to indicate that, for whatever reason, Kilgallen was at the Ruby trial. This made little sense since she was just one of the stars of a quiz show. Even the part of the quote relating to her having “mysteriously died of a drug overdose” did not resonate and neither did her claim that the “drama of this week,” a reference to the Ruby trial, would be analyzed by me in the future.

			Little did I realize, however, that what might be called my “introduction” to Ms. Kilgallen would trigger more than fifteen years of research about matters touching on the assassination. As noted in the introduction, she would become my inspiration for being able to contribute to history in ways I could have never imagined by exposing the truth about how President John F. Kennedy, Marilyn Monroe, and Dorothy herself had been murdered—why and how that happened and by whom.

			***

			To better understand the essence of the improbable journey leading to this book and others I’ve written since age forty-seven, a compendium of details regarding my background is necessary. Any accomplishments early on are not intended at all to be boastful but only to provide context for what happened in the future when I probed the JFK assassination and the deaths of Marilyn and Dorothy.

			While my mother Vera and father Marvin were the finest parents a youngster could ever wish for (my dad taught me that if one wasn’t the smartest person around, she or he just needed to work harder than anyone else), lessons learned regarding how to deal with failure began when I entered Purdue University located in West Lafayette, Indiana, in 1963 at age eighteen. That was the year civil rights chaos happened in the Deep South; Martin Luther King Jr. was arrested and President John F. Kennedy was assassinated. Every freshman like me who lived in a dorm (Cary Hall) had to wear a little green beanie, but I discarded mine shortly after I received it. Playing by the rules was never a focus of mine; a rebel attitude against authority became a given when I felt the rules were unfair. That aspect of my character would carry through to current times.

			Like most everyone, I recall exactly where I was when the president was assassinated. All male students entering Purdue were required to take two years of ROTC (Reserve Officer Training Corps) classes, and I chose air force instead of either navy or army. On the twenty-second of November, 1963, as I dressed in my spiffy blue uniform, the news about the assassination blared on a roommate’s radio, and I recall sitting on my dorm room bunk stunned at the news with tears quickly streaming down my cheeks. I never made it to that class or any other for the next day or so, but as time passed, I merely moved along, never paying much attention to why, how, or by whom the president had been killed. Little did I know that more than fifty years later, I would write and publish six, yes, six books, including this one, touching on JFK’s assassination.

			Despite studying hard for a Physics 152 exam since it was required in the field of Electrical Engineering, I received a score of five out of one hundred (yes, a five), more than qualifying me for an F. Despondent, I decided to drop out of the university, having been overwhelmed as a small-town kid amongst thousands of students. Fortunately, in a life-changing moment, the physics professor took me aside and said, “Mark, if you quit now, you will be a quitter all of your life.” Bless him for his words of wisdom, since the “never give up” attitude I subsequently adopted, including when I nearly gave up while investigating JFK’s, Marilyn’s, and Dorothy’s deaths due to the complicated nature of the evidence, may be directly attributed to the professor’s sound advice to a young man who needed that advice at the time.
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			While at Purdue, I became a member of the Beta Theta Pi fraternity. A close look at the “pledge class” photo indicates an independent streak, which would follow through the years. Notice that I am, for whatever reason, sitting alone in front sporting a nerdy haircut and horn-rimmed glasses. That independent attitude would bode me well later on when I tackled significant historical matters on my own and would be criticized for doing so.

			Like millions of young men my age, when college days were about to end, I was eligible to be drafted into the armed services as the Vietnam War escalated to new heights on a daily basis. Viewing body bags on television frightened all of us, and many, to avoid the draft, went to great lengths, including shooting themselves in the foot, to keep from being called to duty.

			I never thought of such things, since my father had taught me the great life lesson to never shirk my duty, and I appeared for a physical examination in Indianapolis at the proper time. In what surely is the most important defining moment of my life, I somehow, despite never having had problems before, flunked the hearing test, twice.

			After the second time, a tough-talking sergeant took one look at me in my snazzy orange boxer shorts and barked words I will never forget: “Mr. Shaw, you cannot be drafted, you cannot enlist, now get the f___ out of here.” I limped out of the building wondering what had happened, but that improbable rejection permitted me to continue on with my life instead of risking it on the battlefields of Vietnam where I could have been killed. To this day, I feel guilty that I did not serve, and I recall deciding that I would try to do my best to make a difference in the world since I had been spared by whatever spirit was guiding that life of mine at the time.

			The Purdue years were a “growing up” experience for me as I was on my own for the first time. I relished the educational opportunities, socializing, and meeting new people, and fraternity life taught me the special meaning of friendship. Some folks make fun of Midwesterners, but most are honest, trustworthy, and dependable, with their word being their bond.

			***

			Nearly six years later, having heeded the sound advice provided by the physics professor to stay at Purdue, I had graduated with my mother and father alongside. I recall them both taking a deep breath while saying to themselves, “Thank you, Lord, Mark finally graduated.”
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			Dad, Mom, and me celebrating Purdue graduation

			 

			This said, now it was time to head out into the big, bad world and discover what new adventures lay dead ahead. No stretch of the imagination could have prepared me for how life would unfold, including my becoming a lightning rod for controversy despite my attempts to avoid such things.

			Following the graduation in 1968 (age twenty-four) with a degree in industrial management, a catch-all area of interest at the time, I was fired from my first job, one that had taken me to Minneapolis as a salesman for a chemical company. The job was boring, and I failed miserably at it, but after I ridiculed management for its shoddy treatment of a disabled young woman who was the victim of sexual harassment, dismissal was inevitable: the result of my standing up for the woman who needed someone on her side. Taking on such wrongful conduct ended up being a precursor to later defending those, especially women, who were treated unjustly.

			Disappointed but not dejected, and with the determination to take a negative and turn it into a positive based on lessons learned thus far in life, I moved to Chicago, where I had lived with some college buddies one summer, and quickly landed a job as a bartender at a bar near Rush Street called The Depot owned by some Indiana buddies, Pete Johnson and Art LeFleur. One necessary part of my duties was to help pay off the Chicago beat cops each week so they wouldn’t hassle underage customers with ID checks. A brown sack full of cash (at least $100 as I recall) was passed to the men in blue when they stopped by on a regular basis. I hated doing it and it soured my belief in law enforcement. I finally refused to hand over the cash; just a matter of principle which would lead to many such instances in the future where if I knew something was wrong, I couldn’t reconcile or rationalize doing it regardless of orders from those who demanded that I do so.

			Exactly why I wanted to be a lawyer still remains a mystery, but like how I would feel about many future adventures that headed me down a different road, it just seemed like the right thing to do. While pouring beer at The Depot, guys and gals would stroll in and talk about law school and becoming a lawyer. I had never thought of such a thing, but my saying, “Yes, I’ll be going to law school,” sounded good to the chicks, and so I began to see what might be possible and where. Of course, since my college grades were dismal (C minus), chances of getting into any law school of renown were dismal. Ever the optimist, ever the one who thought anything was possible despite the odds, I began to investigate what law school might be crazy enough to accept me.

			In yet another defining moment, Indiana University Law School in Indianapolis (now Indiana University McKinney Law School), the “practical law” partner to the theory-driven campus in Bloomington, had a well-respected night division. The powers-that-be there decided in 1969 to create a day division, and when I researched their plan, it seemed clear that they were looking for bodies whether or not a brain was attached, which was perfect for me because my marks on the Law School Admission Test (LSAT) were mediocre at best.

			Combined with bad grades at Purdue, chances of being accepted were slim, but calls to the admissions dean at the law school in Indianapolis, bless him, resulted in an acceptance. On the day I received that news, I marched over to the Oak Street Beach and screamed in delight, scaring those in the sunbathing mode.
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			Chapter 2

			Without question, law school (average grades at best) provided me the skills that would be highly beneficial in the future, especially when I dealt with the JFK assassination and my “representation” of Dorothy Kilgallen and Marilyn Monroe and their having been denied justice. One course, Evidence, instructed by Professor William Harvey, a true man of integrity, taught me the importance of honesty in the courtroom and how to build a case for the prosecution or defense. When I later laid out the evidence in books like a prosecutor would do at trial, I often thought of the lessons learned in Professor Harvey’s class.

			As the prelude to yet another defining moment in my life, this one hard to believe by anyone with a sane mind, I reconnected in 1972 with my friend Larry Wallace, a public defender (PD) whom I had interned for when I was a law student. He was a free spirit like me, never afraid to try new things even though it meant taking risks that others never even considered.

			Larry, a jovial fellow and a partner at a prestigious Indianapolis law firm, had decided to enter the world of politics and thus became a candidate for the state legislature. When we met at a downtown tavern after my adventurous spirit led me to visit England, France, Italy, and Germany, where I planned to practice law despite no knowledge of the language (dumb idea), he told me that if he won, he would have to resign from his part-time position as a public defender in the criminal courts. “And if I do win,” he said, “I might be able to convince the judge in Criminal Court Number Three, a good friend of mine, to appoint you to take the position if you’re interested.”

			“Uh, Larry, that’s nice of you,” I replied, “but I don’t have any experience with criminal matters, let alone with even practicing law.” He smiled and said something that would truly define how I handled any possible excursion into the unknown in the future, job or otherwise: “Oh, Mark, c’mon, you could just wing it,” reminding me of previous experiences in my youth where I had done the same thing.

			Larry won the legislative seat and Judge Harold Kohlmeyer hesitantly agreed to appoint me a PD. On a Friday afternoon in early 1973 I was unemployed at age twenty-eight, and the following Monday I was standing in court before a jury wearing an ill-fitting tan seersucker suit defending James Jethroe, a man in his mid-thirties charged with shooting his girlfriend with a twelve-gauge shotgun from six feet away in front of her three kids! Yes, that’s right, a first-degree murder case, not a parking ticket or DUI case or anything like that—first-degree murder.

			When I had wandered into the Marion County Jail, where I’d never been before, to meet with my new client early on a day when rain poured down from the heavens, James asked the obvious question: “Mr. Shaw, you seem pretty young. How many cases like mine have you tried—I mean, to a jury?”

			I replied, “Well, uh, James, uh, none, but I studied criminal law in law school and, uh, I’m sure I can handle, uh, your case. Now tell me what happened here?”

			James looked at me like I was from Mars, hesitated, and then said, “Well, Mr. Shaw, I just wanted to scare my wife Olivia by shooting over her head and I missed. Too much booze. I did love that woman so.”

			Right then, I learned the first lesson of a good defense attorney, one that would be a building block for future days in the legal arena: that no matter the story your client tells you, no matter how strange or unbelievable it sounds, you owe her or him the best defense possible. And you never consider whether your client may be guilty. That’s not your job but that of the judge or the jury, and if you even start thinking about that potential, you should resign immediately because that client is counting on you as their last bastion of hope of not losing their freedom, let alone their life.

			When I stood with James, who had never been in trouble before and whom I felt some sympathy for despite his evil deed, in the courtroom for the first time, my knees were shaking, but as the trial proceeded, I just “winged it” as Larry Wallace suggested and started to feel the excitement of every aspect of the criminal court process. During jury selection, I put on my best “Perry Mason” face (I actually watched some episodes of that show to learn how to act in the courtroom, how to question potential jurors, handle cross-examination, and so on) and tried to ask questions I thought he would ask without making a fool of myself. Every once in a while, I would glance at the judge, and two or three times he nodded at me with a bit of a smile. During a break, he even gave me a couple of pointers such as not standing too close to the jury box and making sure I stood up when the jury walked into the courtroom.

			As the trial continued in a rather surreal atmosphere, I thought, “Am I really doing this?” Adrenalin took over when I cross-examined the detective assigned to the case. The Q&A seemed to make sense, and I could feel my heart pumping at full throttle. James wanted to take the stand and testify, and while I wasn’t certain that was the best thing to do, he convinced me it was, and I guided him through that testimony during several practice sessions at the jail.

			After James testified, and the state wrapped up its case, I gave the first final argument of my life akin, it would strike me later, to when I would write books “arguing” that Marilyn Monroe, JFK, and Dorothy Kilgallen had been denied justice. In James’s case, somehow, my ability to converse with the jury didn’t scare me at all even though a man’s freedom was at stake. I emphasized James’s remorse over what happened and how too much alcohol had clouded his judgment when he fired the shotgun. I asked the jury to consider his mental state and take that into consideration when deciding his fate.

			Somehow the idea came to me to humanize James but while doing so, ask the jurors not to consider the act of murder in their own terms, in the context of their daily lives, but rather in his terms. This would help, I argued, to avoid judgment based on what they might have done in the situation he found himself in where James suspected, as he testified, that his wife was cheating on him. Thus, I said, “Put yourself in Mr. Jethroe’s position: jealous, drunk, and thus unable to stop from killing the woman he loved.” Noticing a few nodding heads, I actually believed I might have swayed some of the juror’s minds and while I knew a guilty verdict was to be anticipated, I hoped it might be for a lesser offense, perhaps second-degree murder or even manslaughter. If so, prison time would be cut considerably.

			When the jury retired to decide its verdict, Judge Kohlmeyer (bless him for giving me a chance as a PD) asked where the prosecutor and I could be located when the jurors were ready to announce its decision. Armed with the belief that I might have swayed the twelve men and women to take their time making a decision, I told the judge that I would be across the street at my law office. Before I could take a step in that direction, he replied, “Oh, Mr. Shaw, why don’t you just stick around for a short while.”

			Suddenly, I realized what everyone in the courtroom knew: that despite my arguments to the contrary, James was a goner. Sure enough, after about fifteen minutes, the bailiff told us the verdict was in. When I stood beside my client with my hand on his shoulder, a move I’d seen Perry Mason do in court to show a bond between him and his client, the jury foreman announced, “We, the jury, find the defendant guilty of first-degree murder,” not the last time I would hear those dreadful words during my years as a PD.

			Needless to say, I was crushed, but in a moment I will never forget, James turned to me, extended his hand to shake mine, and said, “Mr. Shaw, thank you for doing your best.” At that moment, I realized that doing my best would be my credo from then on, that despite my inexperience, clients could be certain I’d defend them to the best of my ability with justice as the earmark of every case I tried. And I promised myself I would just work harder than any other lawyer, sixteen hours a day if necessary, when defending the little guy or gal, the downtrodden, those who could not defend themselves.

			Later, at The Cozy, a downtown locals’ pub near the courthouse, the judge, the bailiff, and several attorneys patted me on the back, even bought me a beer or two or three. I had been christened under fire with the realization that I might make a decent defense attorney if I worked at it.

			Best of all, seasoned lawyers Owen Mullin, John “Kit” Carson, and P. K. Ward (Mullin was the finest trial lawyer I ever knew; his imagination in the courtroom legendary) took me under their wing and made sure I followed orders when I began to represent private clients as well. At one point, they were watching while I represented what we called “a lady of the evening,” a nice term for a prostitute, in front of a stern municipal court judge who found 95 percent of those charged with crimes guilty despite lack of evidence. Using what I called “my lawyer voice,” a bit louder than usual, and referring to three or four law books I’d brought to show the judge how smart I was as I stood before him, I argued for a good twenty minutes or so. The moment I closed my mouth, the judge uttered, “Guilty as charged,” and my client was sent to jail.

			When I walked into the adjacent hall bent over in defeat, there was Owen waiting to speak to me as Kit and P. K. looked on. “Okay, Mark,” Owen, aka “Owenie,” said, “First rule of practicing criminal defense law: it has nothing to do with the law!” I gulped at those words and then the four of us headed for The Cozy where they educated me regarding the fact that being a criminal defense lawyer was, yes, all about the nuances of the law but more about the human side of the law, permitting judges or juries to become involved in the defendant’s life and times and getting them to understand that the strict rule of law wasn’t always the standard regarding guilt or innocence. That day, like them, I became a “seat-of-the-pants” lawyer by learning to meander through the court system using my street smarts as a guidepost. Once again, this experience would be a precursor to the days when I’d “defend” those denied justice like JFK, Dorothy Kilgallen, and Marilyn Monroe using street smarts and common sense instead of paying attention to wild theories that were true distortions of history.

			Although I had no experience when I began my days as a criminal defense lawyer, cases came my way with ease since I had a reputation of going to the mat for my clients and doing the extra work necessary to make certain they received a proper defense. Many criminal defense lawyers were actually afraid to go to trial and thus became what I would call “plea bargain” attorneys, which reduced their effectiveness since prosecutors knew they feared appearing before juries or even judges in court.

			My daily regimen consisted of 6:00 a.m. visits to the county jail to meet with the alleged lawbreakers I represented. Such discipline boded me well for my later becoming an author since I’d begin writing during the early hours (most days 5:00 a.m.) when I was working on a new book.

			Up next during my daily routine were morning and afternoon court sessions either appearing for clients or defending them in jury trials before spending evenings investigating my cases. This “training” would continue when I investigated the trials and tribulations of the potential subjects of my books using the same methods employed, for instance, of organizing evidence I planned to rely on to “defend” the rights of those denied justice.

			Regarding the PD investigations, I did not, as many lawyers did, hire private investigators to do the legwork. I wanted to locate and question witnesses firsthand, watch their facial expressions, and decide for myself whether they were telling the truth or not. Doing so permitted me, when I faced them on the witness stand, to ask the hard questions, to probe their credibility. One matter of interest I learned from Perry Mason was to watch closely when a witness began answering a question, “Let me be perfectly honest with you.” In my experience, 95 percent of those who said that were dead-solid liars.

			Again, looking back at the research, the investigations I would later conduct as an investigative reporter, I would shun for the most part secondhand observations, ones that were speculative in nature, and instead focus on primary-source accounts and documents that were credible in nature. Certainly, this attitude carried on when I began to investigate the JFK assassination and the life and times of Dorothy and Marilyn.

			One light moment occurred during an aggravated-assault case where my opposing attorney was an assistant prosecutor named Donald Duck. One may only imagine the snickers when I rose to say, “Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, can you really believe Mr. Duck?” His parents should have been indicted for their name choice.

			Never known for being much of a fashion plate (a reputation continuing to this day—Goodwill is still my favorite shopping choice), I had but two suits, both cotton, one a light blue and another khaki, that I wore on alternate days. The ensemble normally included a blue cotton button-down shirt and a colorful tie. But my trademark was wearing a khaki trench coat similar to the one actor Peter Falk wore on the hit TV show Columbo. Some lawyers liked to dress up with outfits straight from Saks Fifth Avenue, but I wanted to be a “regular Joe” when addressing jurors. That way I could better identify with the regular citizens who were going to decide my client’s fate.

			This tactic would be repeated during YouTube videotaped interviews and presentations regarding my future books since, again, I wanted readers to identify with the “regular Joe” aspect of my personality, not some fancy dandy dresser trying to impress them. [Author’s note: A common criticism of me on those videos resulted in many viewers making this strong suggestion: quit wearing the same damn brown corduroy coat and get a haircut.]
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			While it normally takes years to build up a successful private law practice, I did so in a matter of months by gaining a reputation as a defense lawyer who sought the truth and fought for justice for the accused at every turn. Based on a solid reputation, referrals came my way even from police officers, prosecutors, and bail bondsmen who admired a solid work ethic.

			In addition, unlike many defense attorneys, during examination of witnesses, I did not have a prepared script for asking questions but instead listened very carefully to what the witness was saying. This permitted meaningful follow-up questions instead of just following the script, which would have caused a disconnect in the continuing dialogue between the witness and me.

			These lessons learned, though I didn’t realize it at the time, would prove most valuable when I was investigating subjects I covered in my books and needed to question those who had primary-source information about what had happened. Little by little, although I did not realize it at the time, my character was being molded into the type of person I wanted to be: a ferocious advocate for the truth.

			At one point, when my status increased as a noted defense attorney, I celebrated with my colleagues at the smoke-infested Cozy on a regular basis since I was now one of the “guys,” which made me feel proud. My name seemed to be in the media on a regular basis, and to that end the Indianapolis Star published an article about my exploits in the courtroom comparing me to Tony Petrocelli, star of the 1974 hit TV series Petrocelli. Most of what the reporter wrote was true, and the free publicity brought a bevy of clients to my doorstep. This said, most also agreed, as did friends and family, that the mustache I grew never lived up to expectations.

			The article began, “A rumpled trench coat is his trademark. His office looks like a teenager’s bedroom, with clothes and pop bottles stuffed in the corners.” Larry Wallace was then quoted as calling me “odd,” arguably a compliment, before writer Grace Hanley quoted me as saying, “I have found that I myself can’t get wrapped up in a robbery or rape case and I usually don’t take them. I have never taken a child molesting case and I never will.” That certainly was true although at one point I had defended a thirty-five-year-old black man who had been accused of rape based on the alleged victim identifying him through “smell” and no other evidence. Her explanation of how she did so appeared to be racial in nature and the judge handling the charges agreed—case dismissed.
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			Chapter 3

			One highly publicized case made me not only feel like the dumbest person in the world but also the most embarrassed, even though my intentions were good. When an African American fellow named Ricky Lee Vaughn was suspected of killing a white policeman, a manhunt began like none before in Indianapolis. No other lawyer would take the explosive case, but I could not turn down Ricky’s mother when she contacted me. Soon thereafter, the police chief and I appeared on television where Ricky’s mother, tears rolling down her face, begged her son to turn himself in before a trigger-happy policeman, bent on revenge, killed Ricky.

			Death threats came my way for taking the case, but nevertheless, to make it easy for Ricky to surrender, the police chief suggested that he and I appear on a street corner in a rather crime-ridden neighborhood at 9:00 p.m. one evening. The chief said he would be unarmed and no police would try to harm Ricky. True to this promise, the two of us stood on that street corner, but while we waited, we agreed that this was just about the craziest thing either one of us had ever done since anyone considered armed and dangerous might decide to shoot us both.

			As it neared nine o’clock and darkness prevailed, we were ready for Ricky to show up. Then fire truck sirens wailed in the background headed for a nearby fire. Frightened that it was a setup, Ricky never showed and a few weeks later was captured in Ohio. When he returned and was charged with first-degree murder, which carried the death penalty, I represented him in a packed courtroom. A few weeks later, as I was making a passionate argument on his behalf, Ricky stood up, addressed Judge John Tranberg, a good man and a very fair judge, and screamed, “I don’t want Mr. Shaw as my lawyer. I want to fire him.” Embarrassed by the sudden turn of events, I crept out the side door of the courtroom hoping nobody would see me. Ricky’s mother was upset, but he wouldn’t listen to her when she told him he had made a mistake.

			With another lawyer by his side, Vaughn was convicted and received the death penalty. Even though I never learned why Ricky fired me, I always felt that I had somehow let him down. Years later, I heard he had been stabbed to death while in prison.
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			Despite that setback, my robust practice would culminate in my becoming involved in nearly every significant criminal case that came along as I became the fashionable, “go-to” lawyer in Indianapolis. I liked to think that it was the trust factor making a difference, that people knew my word was my bond. The practice of being trustworthy was a goal that I would seek when I became an author.

			When people lose hope, that’s when they lose their dignity, their will to live, and I did my best to stand up for those who were depressed, especially when they had entered the world of the criminal and wondered if there was any way out. This set of values would come in handy when several of my published books, despite good marks for the most part, were panned by critics or assaulted by those with an agenda based on political beliefs or jealousy. In each case, I cast a deaf ear toward them and moved on.
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			While I would become an accidental author in the future, I had really become an accidental defense attorney since there was never any intention to spend the rest of my life in the trenches of the court system with those accused of crimes, small and large, each day. This said, there was one particular case where I believed justice certainly prevailed, although it wasn’t the kind people regularly hear about.

			The instance of justice being served in an unusual manner occurred when I defended Harriet, a mild-mannered African American woman who had killed her husband by shooting him five times in his back in front of a packed courtroom as he stood in front of a judge with a pistol she had carried in her purse for thirty blocks in freezing weather. Harriet was headed straight for prison until I learned that her husband Walter had stomped her eighty-five-year-old father to death during a drunken rage in front of Harriet and her children the night before her courtroom escapade.

			Behind the scenes, I convinced the prosecutor of Harriet’s “sudden impulse” to drill Walter based on an understandable motive to kill the bastard. Together, he and I visited the chambers of criminal court judge John Wilson and told him we’d like to “bury” the case for a few months so it would fall from the front pages of the Indianapolis Star. The judge agreed, and when we finally brought the case before him in an empty courtroom, he agreed with our plea bargain and Harriet was granted probation and sent home to her children. The unusual result gave all of us involved a sense that justice had prevailed despite, in this case, it being a sort of vigilante justice. Made sense to me.

			Days later, while celebrating a courtroom victory with a bottle of Boone’s Farm Strawberry Hill wine, my favorite, and a group of rowdy friends in a home I had purchased alongside a bubbling brook, the phone rang. “Is this Mark Shaw?” the man asked in a deep voice.

			“Yes, it certainly is,” I bellowed in my inebriated state, “It certainly is.”

			“Well, this is F. Lee Bailey,” the caller said.

			I quickly quipped, “Yeah, sure, hey, c’mon over and have some fun with us,” while banging down the receiver believing it was one of my prankster friends.

			Before I could move into the next room, the phone rang again. I picked up the receiver intending to bark at the caller, but before I could, he said, in a strong voice, “Listen, this is F. Lee Bailey, and if you hang up, it will be the dumbest thing you have ever done.”

			Fortunately, I listened, and Lee, famous at the time because of the Boston Strangler, Dr. Sam Sheppard, and Patty Hearst cases, requested that I accept an offer to become co-counsel with him during the representation of a seedy doctor named John Lind in Anderson, a city near Indianapolis. This was certainly another defining moment in my life since the fact that Bailey, licensed in Massachusetts, had chosen me to be his Indiana co-counsel over every other defense lawyer in the state provided additional credibility as a bona fide criminal defense attorney. I recall sitting in my house completely amazed at how far I had come from the days of the James Jethroe murder case, and a sense of satisfaction certainly set in along another “Why me?” moment among literally hundreds during a life packed with excitement and wonder.
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			Dr. Lind had been charged with “surgically removing” the head of an undercover DEA agent who suspected the physician of drug trafficking, and then tying the headless torso to a cement block that bobbed up in a shocked farmer’s pond one sunny day. Predictably, the newspapers referred to it as “The Headless Torso Case.”

			After speaking to Dr. Lind from a public telephone booth in Anderson, which he insisted on doing, we arranged for him to visit my Indianapolis office on a Saturday morning. While checking some trial notes, I looked up from my desk to see the beady-eyed, dark-haired doctor wearing an ill-fitting suit standing beside a tiny woman, whom I believed to be his wife, at the entryway. To my amazement, both were adorned in socks while holding their shoes in the air beside them.
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			Before I could speak, Dr. Lind put a finger across his mouth and whispered, “Our shoes are bugged.” I didn’t reply, but nodded toward a small, checkered couch in the corner of the office. There the three of us sat with me in between the two of them, no space in view.

			While still whispering, Dr. Lind, his voice a bit squeaky, presented me with some questions about his case that he had written on the back of a grocery store receipt. After answering them, I walked to my desk while telling him not to keep that receipt on him since the police could confiscate his notes and use them against him in court if he was arrested.

			I then leaned down to get a business card, and when I looked up, the doctor had a big bulge in his right cheek. To my bewilderment, he had eaten the notes. I didn’t react and nor did his wife, but afterwards I referred to the dandy couple as Dr. and Mrs. Strange. Soon after, the police served a search warrant on Dr. Lind’s home and, when they found a machine gun in his basement, arrested him for not only the firearms violation but the murder of the DEA agent.

			Also key to Dr. Lind being nabbed was the testimony of two young Anderson convicted felons who, after being arrested on a burglary charge, told police the doctor had hired them to dynamite Plumb-Rite Supply, a local hardware store. As difficult as this was to believe, investigators learned that Lind was upset with the owner of the store who sent him a bill ever so slightly exceeding the amount previously quoted for an order of lead for the doctor’s X-ray machine. Believing he had been overcharged, Lind had, according to the two men, ordered the dynamiting to get even with the proprietor. If you can figure that logic, you’re smarter than I was.

			Soon after Dr. Lind was arrested, Lee Bailey, with prissy wife Linda in tow, arrived at the Indianapolis airport in a private plane that Bailey, an experienced pilot, had flown from San Francisco, where he had blown the Patty Hearst case by permitting a military man to be on the jury. This was a mistake for sure since even a novice criminal defense attorney like me knew you didn’t want any authoritative person like that on the jury since there is a danger that they will take over the deliberation and, if they believe the client is guilty, attempt to sway the other jurors toward conviction.

			Hiring Bailey could have backfired on Dr. Lind, since throwing a famous lawyer from far away into the mix normally offends jurors who have less trust in that sort of attorney than a local lawyer with whom they are acquainted. There is also the potential to believe that the accused must be guilty or else he or she would have selected the local lawyer.

			Nevertheless, with Bailey and me at his side, the firearms violation and the dynamiting—but not the murder charges, which the prosecution could not prove—would be judged by a jury not in Indianapolis, due to pretrial publicity problems, but in downstate Evansville. Cale Holder, a stern, no-nonsense federal judge, presided, and I watched as Bailey did his best to untangle the web of mystery as to why a distinguished physician had motive to own a machine gun and order a hardware store to be blown up. I chipped in by cross-examining some of the witnesses, but we never made a dent in the prosecution’s case.

			Predictably, the jury convicted Dr. Lind, and while Bailey, who had shared part of the $100,000 attorney’s fee with me, flew off into the sunset for another high-profile case, I stood with Dr. Lind before Judge Holder for sentencing. Before doing so, the judge made it clear he believed Lind was responsible for the DEA agent’s death and, with that in mind, said, “I am sentencing you to nine years in prison, which is the maximum for the charges the jury convicted you of. I wish it could be more.”
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			Watching Lee Bailey in action taught me some good courtroom strategy, but he wasn’t at his best. Losing the Patty Hearst case devastated his ego, and he was never the same again, to the extent that years later he was disbarred in both Massachusetts and Florida. Before he died in June 2021 of what I believed was a broken heart since he loved the law so much and couldn’t practice anymore, Lee lived in the northeast and operated an investigative organization, a true waste of a once-brilliant legal mind. We had kept in touch following the Lind case, and as will be explained, he played a big part in my entrance into the television arena shortly after Dr. Lind was sent to prison.

			***
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			Despite a solid reputation as a defense lawyer for the poor and downtrodden with headline-making cases that kept me in the limelight, I first became disillusioned with my new profession when a young fellow charged with theft left my office and, upon exiting, stole my secretary Kathy’s purse. While I raced after him down a main street in Indianapolis, like some sort of Keystone Cop, a thought occurred to me: “Hey, maybe it’s time for a change.”

			During the next few days, as I questioned whether the profession as a criminal defense lawyer really suited me in the long run, I learned of a most disturbing case. A young man we will call Stephen had been charged with kidnapping a young woman and driving around with her tied up in his car trunk. After a court hearing where I attempted to lower the man’s bond, the kidnapped woman’s mother spit in my face while screaming at me for being a worthless derelict. I slithered out of the packed courtroom while wiping my face, but I felt like a true lowlife even though I was doing “my duty” as Stephen’s attorney.

			Stephen’s case, which led to several sleepless nights, was the latest in a long line of my representing young people who had gone astray. When I stood in front of a judge with one such youngster, no more than fifteen or sixteen, who had been transferred to adult court because of the severity of his crime, the youngster actually said “thank you” when the judge imposed a heavy sentence. This kid was so naïve, so oblivious to what was occurring that it startled me, made me realize that this child, one with no mother or father to guide his path, was headed to prison where older inmates would tear him apart.

			Time and time again, I saw that with each senseless crime, lives were destroyed; everyone lost—the victims, of course, but also the ones inflicting the harm. For all practicable purposes everyone, including juvenile delinquents, who entered the prison system were goners, especially considering the penal system’s de-emphasis on rehabilitation. Many times I sat alone on a courtroom bench or at a tavern and simply shook my head. Parenting was the real issue; the majority of the kids I represented had never been parented, especially by fathers who had either abandoned them or were in prison themselves. These kids were lost, and most quit school and drifted into the crime world.
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			The confused state of affairs rolling around in my mind intensified after I won an acquittal for a client we will call Clarence, a skinny sixteen-year-old charged as an adult with the senseless murder of a young social worker on the northside of Indianapolis.

			During his trial, the prosecutor made a strong case, and thus my goal was to force the jury to consider strong inconsistencies in the evidence against my client. Several times I found myself nearly crossing the boundaries of ethical conduct especially regarding the whereabouts of the murder weapon that had never been located.

			Once the jury returned with a verdict of not guilty after I’d done my job creating reasonable doubt as to Clarence’s guilt, an Indianapolis Star reporter named Carolyn Pickering, a woman of the truth in the ilk of Dorothy Kilgallen, walked up to me at the counsel table and said, “What do you think of the verdict, Mark?”

			I looked at her and replied, “That’s it. I quit. I’m done. Enough of this. I’m moving to Colorado.” Shocked, Carolyn told me she would print the news in the Sunday paper if I did not get in touch with her, and after I didn’t do so on purpose, Carolyn wrote her article including a cartoon of my skiing off to Colorado alongside a caricature of Lee Bailey in a garbage can.

			Part of the article read:
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			Shock waves hit the legal community based on my “retiring” since I had been successful in garnering several “not guilty” verdicts in a row, each of them dealing with murder allegations, but I knew if I continued on I might end up like many other criminal defense lawyers—a drunk, a drug addict, a mental patient, perhaps disbarred due to legal ethics violations since the stress involved with defending those charged with violations of the law takes a great toll on the soul. Nothing beats the courtroom for drama (later I would learn of Dorothy Kilgallen’s fascination with trials), but one must constantly be dealing with people from the seedy world of crime who are destroying their lives and the lives of others.

			Also, I was disenchanted with the legal system, believing it certainly favored the rich instead of giving the poor a fair shake in addition to causing most defense attorneys to realize they had to prove their clients innocent instead of the prosecution proving them guilty. Of concern were police officers, not all of them for sure, who were pressured into fabricating evidence and prosecutors who followed that line of thinking to protect their jobs.

			In addition, there were racial issues in Indianapolis at the time, ones lurking beneath the surface that would escalate as the years passed. Frustrated, I lashed out, and the article in the Star that appeared did not go over well with many of my legal colleagues and judges since I called for public defenders to be full-time and paid more, that two more criminal courts be added since the four current ones were overcrowded, that the prosecutor should be required to appoint a special prosecutor when there were conflicts of interest, and that attorneys needed to specialize if they were going to defend those accused of a crime.

			I had the mindset necessary for challenging the establishment, in this case the entire Marion County criminal court system, for which there was significant backlash. It wouldn’t be the last time I’d challenge authority, those in power, especially when I began writing books. In fact, at times my attempts to change things for the better would backfire. But things don’t change if nobody cares, and looking back, part of my destiny was to be embroiled in controversy, to speak up and risk the consequences especially when false facts and conclusions tarnish or destroy someone’s reputation as would be the case when Marilyn and Dorothy died.

			This all said, it is difficult to believe I actually “retired,” left the practice of criminal defense law as abruptly as I did. Carolyn Pickering was correct when she wrote that my decision was “one of the biggest surprises to hit the legal fraternity,” and many friends and colleagues thought it was the dumbest decision they had ever heard about. I had some second thoughts, but while I loved the action of the courtroom and all that went with it, it was time to move on especially so I would never have to, I hoped, view another autopsy report or visit a morgue to view the remains of a shooting victim, with those images then keeping me from a sound night’s sleep.

			This said, little did I know that one day in the future my knowledge of autopsies during my many murder cases, what to look for when determining the true cause of death, would be most helpful when I investigated the deaths of JFK, Dorothy, and Marilyn. In fact, as will be explained, their autopsies would become a major factor in learning the truth about what happened when they died since that truth had been covered up by powerful men threatened with accountability for their murders.
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